Eastern Michigan University DigitalCommons@EMU

Senior Honors Theses and Projects

Honors College

2022

Speech-language pathologists' perspectives on augmentative communication and autism spectrum disorder

Madison Lambert

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.emich.edu/honors

Part of the Special Education and Teaching Commons

Recommended Citation

Lambert, Madison, "Speech-language pathologists' perspectives on augmentative communication and autism spectrum disorder" (2022). *Senior Honors Theses and Projects*. 747. https://commons.emich.edu/honors/747

This Open Access Senior Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Honors College at DigitalCommons@EMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Senior Honors Theses and Projects by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@EMU. For more information, please contact lib-ir@emich.edu.

Speech-language pathologists' perspectives on augmentative communication and autism spectrum disorder

Abstract

Augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) is a common strategy that speech-language pathologists (SLPs) use to help individuals better communicate. AAC is used to assist or replace verbal communication. This strategy can include pointing at pictures, having a device that speaks typed words, or using gestures such as sign language. AAC is commonly used to help individuals with autism spectrum disorder with communication. Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a lifelong developmental disability that impacts social communication and interaction. Individuals with ASD also commonly have restrictive or repetitive behaviors. Past research on AAC has focused more on what it is and why SLPs would use it. There is a paucity of research about specific AAC programs and the successes and challenges that SLPs have faced with them. This qualitative research study seeks to explore the methods and perspectives of SLPs using AAC with their clients, specifically with clients with ASD.

Degree Type Open Access Senior Honors Thesis

Department or School Special Education and Communication Sciences and Disorders

First Advisor Audrey Farrugia, Ph.D., CCC-SLP

Second Advisor David Winters, Ph.D.

Third Advisor Ann Eisenberg, Ph.D.

Subject Categories Special Education and Teaching

SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGISTS' PERSPECTIVES ON AUGMENTATIVE AND ALTERNATIVE COMMUNICATION AND AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER

By

Madison Lambert

A Senior Thesis Submitted to the

Eastern Michigan University

Honors College

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Graduation

with Honors in Communication Sciences and Disorders

and with Highest Honors

Approved at Ypsilanti, Michigan, on this date _____ December 20, 2022

Project Advisor: Audrey Farrugia, Ph.D., CCC-SLP

Departmental Honors Advisor: Audrey Farrugia, Ph.D., CCC-SLP

Department Head: David Winters, Ph.D.

Dean of The Honors College: Ann Eisenberg, Ph.D.

Abstract

Augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) is a common strategy that speechlanguage pathologists (SLPs) use to help individuals better communicate. AAC is used to assist or replace verbal communication. This strategy can include pointing at pictures, having a device that speaks typed words, or using gestures such as sign language. AAC is commonly used to help individuals with autism spectrum disorder with communication. Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a lifelong developmental disability that impacts social communication and interaction. Individuals with ASD also commonly have restrictive or repetitive behaviors. Past research on AAC has focused more on what it is and why SLPs would use it. There is a paucity of research about specific AAC programs and the successes and challenges that SLPs have faced with them. This qualitative research study seeks to explore the methods and perspectives of SLPs using AAC with their clients, specifically with clients with ASD.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to William Brehm and the late Delores Brehm for donating to the Delores Soderquist Brehm Research Scholarship which helped the researcher complete this project. Additionally, special thanks to the Honors College at Eastern Michigan University for awarding the researcher the Undergraduate Research Fellowship which also assisted the researcher.

Table of contents

Introduction	3
Review of Literature	3
Methodology	7
Purpose and Objectives of the Study	7
Research Questions	8
Methods	8
Data Collection	8
Data Analysis	9
Participants	9
Results	10
Discussion	14
Limitations of the Study	17
Conclusions	17
References	19

Introduction

Review of Literature

Augmentative and Alternative Communication

According to the American Speech-Language Hearing Association (ASHA), augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) is a form of assistive technology that assists or replaces verbal speech and other impairments in both speech-language production and comprehension (ASHA, n.d.-a). Some examples of AAC include manual signs, picture communication boards, and speech-generating devices (ASHA, n.d.-a). The scope of individuals that may benefit from the use of AAC spans across abilities and ages. Young children may use AAC if they have limited to no verbal communication, while older adults who have acquired disabilities (i.e. traumatic brain injuries) may also benefit from a form of AAC (ASHA, n.d.-a). In recent years there has been increased awareness and acceptance of AAC which has resulted in the increased application of AAC with individuals of all ages (Light & McNaughton, 2012). According to Beukelman and Light (2020), around five million Americans could benefit from the use of AAC. This large number of individuals shows how effective AAC can be in different populations. In terms of the popularity of AAC, this strategy for communication has evolved over the past 40 years and more individuals are using AAC services than ever before (Light and McNaughton, 2012). In a study talking to special educators across all 50 states in the United States, about 18% of their students used some form of AAC (Andzik et al., 2018).

Communication is essential to the daily lives of individuals, so it is important for everyone to have access to communication. AAC has a wide range of options for individuals. There are two larger categories of AAC: aided-AAC and unaided-AAC. Aided-AAC involves some external tool or equipment, and the equipment can be electronic or non-electronic (ASHA, n.d.-a; Gevarter et al., 2013). The advancements in mobile technology have increased the options for electronic aided-AAC devices which allows AAC to be more accessible to a variety of individuals (Light and McNaughton, 2012). An example of an electronic aided-AAC device is a computer or tablet that has a communication application (ASHA, n.d.-a). Some examples of nonelectronic aided-AAC options include visual schedules, writing, and communication boards (ASHA, n.d.-a). Unaided-AAC does not involve an external tool or device and it requires the user to have some degree of motor control (ASHA, n.d.-a; Gevarter et al., 2013). Facial expressions, manual signs, and finger spelling are all examples of unaided-AAC (ASHA, n.d.-a). The form of AAC that is introduced to the individual will depend on their communication difficulty, their motor ability, and their communication needs. The speech-language pathologist (SLP) will work with the individual and their family to determine which form of AAC is the most appropriate for them.

How SLPs use AAC

A SLP holds many roles and responsibilities that include screening, assessing, diagnosing, and treating those with communication disorders and differences. These roles and responsibilities include finding, assessing, and treating individuals who may benefit from AAC intervention. In the screening and assessment stages, the SLP may look for indications that an individual might benefit from the use of AAC intervention (ASHA, n.d.-a). In the past, SLPs have used AAC intervention as a last resort for individuals with communication challenges (Romski & Sevcik, 2005), but recently SLPs have been introducing AAC as a means of increasing verbal speech when appropriate. When a SLP diagnoses a child after assessing them, the diagnosis could help lead the SLP to AAC intervention. For example, AAC intervention is commonly used with individuals with ASD (ASHA, n.d.-b). It is important for SLPs to remember that each client is different and AAC intervention should be tailored for the individual.

Core words are the most used words in phrases and sentences, and they make up about eighty percent of language (Liberator, n.d.-b). Fringe vocabulary includes mostly nouns, and it is important to have the right amount of fringe vocabulary for the AAC user (Liberator, n.d.-b). The AAC user should have a balance of core and fringe vocabulary to give them access to as much vocabulary as possible, but it is important that the device should be easy to navigate. When SLPs organize symbols on an AAC device, they must consider the user, their literacy abilities, and how much vocabulary is on the device. When an older child or an adult has literacy skills, they can use a keyboard device and have access to a wide variety of vocabulary (Liberator, n.d.a). Younger children or those with lower literacy skills have symbols to represent their language on their AAC systems (Liberator, n.d.-a). The page approach is one method of programming a high-tech AAC device, and it involves creating pages for different categories of vocabulary such as dinner time, games, and nighttime routine (Liberator, n.d.-a). SLPs need to consider the abilities of the AAC user before introducing a great number of pages because it can often be difficult for children with intellectual disabilities to navigate. It is also important for vocabulary to stay in the same location on the device (Liberator, n.d.-a). This will help the AAC user be able to navigate the device with more ease. Symbols should be added to the device with intention to give the user access to more communication without overwhelming them (Liberator, n.d.-a). More basic AAC systems have one page of core vocabulary to start, but high-tech systems such as TobiiDynavox Snap Core First have multiple pages. TobiiDynavox's Snap Core First is an application that can be downloaded onto a mobile device. The user has a profile that is customized with vocabulary that is specific to their communication needs. This application has a

home page that consists of Core Words, preprogrammed commonly used phrases called Quick Fires, a keyboard, and a tab to go to all the different topic pages (TobiiDynavox, n.d.). Every icon that moves to a separate page has an arrow to let the user know it is a separate page (TobiiDynavox, n.d.). When the user clicks the icons, it will speak the word or phrase for the specific icon (TobiiDynavox, n.d.).

When the SLP begins intervention and treatment for the individual, it is common for SLPs to provide trial periods with different AAC systems (ASHA, n.d.-a). This will help determine if the form of AAC fits the needs of the client and the client's family. Once the AAC system has been chosen, it is the responsibility of the SLP to document the client's progress and modify the device or method as needed (ASHA, n.d.-a). This can include taking feedback from the parents, teachers, and other professionals that work with the child. An individual using an AAC device may have an interdisciplinary team of professionals (i.e., occupational therapists, physical therapists, assistive technology professionals). The SLP is expected to work with these professionals as a team to allow the client to be as successful as possible (ASHA, n.d.-a). Another important responsibility of the SLP with their clients who use AAC is to educate and train those around them about AAC intervention (ASHA, n.d.-a). It is important for all individuals who encounter the client using AAC to be comfortable with their device, so they are able to communicate. The SLP should educate and train those that communicate with the client including the client's family members and caregivers, educators, and other therapists (ASHA, n.d.-a). The SLP acts as a bridge between the family of the client and the AAC company, so it is important to keep open communication and provide additional support through training or counseling as appropriate (ASHA, n.d.-a). SLPs are also encouraged to advocate for their clients to provide them with the most appropriate means of communication and give them access to communicating with their family and peers.

AAC and ASD

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) has been defined as a lifelong developmental disability that impacts communication, social skills, and behavior (ASHA, n.d.-b). An individual with ASD commonly has difficulties with their social communication which includes social reciprocity. When an individual is not able to engage in reciprocal conversation, this could lead to isolation or behaviors of frustration of not being able to communicate (ASHA, n.d.-b). When an SLP is starting intervention with an individual with ASD, they will focus on goals that target the main challenges involved with ASD such as spontaneous communication and engaging in reciprocal communication (ASHA, n.d.-b). Different approaches of intervention are used with someone with ASD and AAC is a common method due to the visual and multimodal component (ASHA, n.d.-b). Individuals with ASD often respond well to visual supports such as visual schedules, so having a method of communication that includes visuals is often effective (ASHA, n.d.-b). SLPs also often use multimodal communication systems that may include gestures, vocalizations, pictures, or devices that speak for them (ASHA, n.d.-b). Different types of AAC incorporate gestures, pictures, and speech-generating devices that could assist with the multimodal communication approach (ASHA, n.d.-b).

Methodology

Purpose and objectives of the study

The purpose of this study was to explore the experiences of SLPs in their work with AAC with their clients with ASD. The researcher investigated what programs, applications, and other strategies the participants commonly use with their clients and their challenges and successes.

AAC is a strategy that is constantly changing, so it is important for SLPs to stay up to date with the most recent strategies.

Research questions

The researcher aimed to explore two questions: how the participants' coursework and clinical experiences prepared SLPs to use AAC with their clients and what AAC programs and strategies the SLP participants used with their clients.

Methods

Qualitative research generates data that is non-numerical, and it usually involves understanding people's experiences, beliefs, and interactions. Researchers may conduct interviews with participants when doing a qualitative research study to give participants an opportunity to voice their experiences and opinions (Pathak et al., 2013). This qualitative research study used phenomenology as the mode of research. Phenomenology is a type of qualitative research that is meant to gain the participants' perspective based on their own experience (Schram, 2006). Phenomenology focuses on what the participants believe is true, not what the interviewer believes is true. With this qualitative research method, interviewers look at all the interviews and pull-out themes. These themes are universal truths for these specific participants as they are true for each of them (Schram, 2006). This research was done through semi-structured, in-depth (Seidman, 2006) interviews based on the participants own personal experiences and their reflections.

Data Collection

Data collection began after this study received approval from Eastern Michigan University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) in November 2021 to protect the participants. Once IRB approval was received and informed consent was collected, the semi-structured, indepth interviews (Seidman, 2006) were scheduled between December 2021 and January 2022. Semi-structured, in-depth interviews do not have set questions, but rather the interviews follow a three-part process that consists of the participants' related history, details of their experience, and a reflection on what their experience means. The researcher was able to obtain interviews with four participants. In order to be eligible to participate in this study, the participants had to be an SLP with a certificate of clinical competence from ASHA. The SLPs also had to have experience using AAC with their clients with ASD. The interviews were conducted over the phone, and they were recorded with the SLPs consent. These interviews were recorded and transcribed by the researcher, and all identifying information was removed from the recordings, labels, and transcriptions.

Data Analysis

In order to understand the experiences of the participants, the researcher analyzed each of the interviews. The researcher followed a modified version of Hycner's (1985) steps for phenomenological data analysis which included transcribing, listening for a sense of the whole, summarizing each interview, and identifying themes. To develop themes, the researcher began a line-by-line analysis of the data that took common experiences and developed them into themes. These themes were identified from the transcriptions and the researcher found quotes from each interview to support those themes (Creswell, 2013). This approach was chosen because it was effective and efficient in highlighting the participants' experiences and responses, while protecting their confidentiality.

Participants

To be eligible to participate in this study, the participants had to be a speech-language pathologist with a certificate of clinical competence from ASHA. The SLPs also had to have

experience using AAC with their clients with ASD. Three of the participants worked as SLPs in a multidisciplinary clinic, and one participant worked as an AAC solutions consultant. All participants were given a pseudonym to protect their identity.

The first participant was Bridget, an SLP who works in a multidisciplinary clinic in a suburban community. Bridget has been working as an SLP for over 20 years and has had experience working in a clinic and in a school district. The second participant was Delaney, an SLP who also works in a multidisciplinary clinic in a suburban community. Delaney has worked as an SLP for about five years, and she worked in a school district in an urban community prior to her current position. The third participant, Nicole, also works in a multidisciplinary clinic in a suburban community. Nicole has had seven years of experience as an SLP, and she has worked in a charter school prior to her current position. The fourth participant, Gale, has been working as an AAC consultant for one year and she has had four years of experience working as an SLP prior to her current position.

Results

Basic information about AAC and how it can be used is found through research, but the four interviews with SLPs allowed the researcher to compile a more personal look into SLPs and their work with AAC. While each of the SLP's views and experiences varied, there were three common themes that emerged: SLP education about AAC, family-centered care, and SLP beliefs on AAC.

SLP Education about AAC

The scope of practice of an SLP includes AAC, so it is important for SLPs to be prepared to use AAC with their clients. All four of the participants interviewed for this study commented about their own education about AAC and what they learned in and out of graduate school. Although these participants each attended a different graduate school, each had one AAC course in graduate school. Delaney's graduate program had an AAC course that focused on how AAC follows the theories of language. Delaney also discussed how she did not find this beneficial since the course focused on the theory of language development which was already taught in other courses. Delaney explained, "I really wish that they would have taught us the basics of how to program the device." On the other hand, another participant, Gale, took a course in graduate school where the professor brought in consultants from different AAC companies such as Tobii Dynavox. This SLP stressed the importance of understanding the latest AAC and being exposed in graduate school. Gale explained, "The research in AAC, the technology, changes so fast, and I think that the professor really needs to stay on top of that which doesn't always happen."

In addition to the education that SLPs receive in graduate school, all four of the participants discussed how they learned about AAC more through on-the-job training and continued education. Delaney said, "Continuing education and trial and error", is where her knowledge about AAC is from. She discussed a specific client who had a speech-generating device when they came to her and how she learned so much through working with them. Nicole, another SLP that was interviewed, also mentioned that she learned more about AAC on the job. Nicole explained, "I think, with our field being so broad, it is just impossible to teach everything in school." Two of the SLPs that were interviewed also talked about the impact that additional training and education had on their knowledge about AAC. Nicole discussed going to conferences and enrolling in courses about AAC and Bridget talked about attending webinars over the course of her years as an SLP. Nicole explained, "I am still learning, always learning", when asked to describe her education about AAC.

Family-Centered Care

When using AAC with clients, it is crucial for the families of the children to be involved. When the SLP is working on teaching a client how to use an AAC device or other method of AAC, the family must be able to both afford any costs associated with the AAC and be supported in learning to use the method or device.

As detailed in the introduction, AAC can include anywhere from a pen and paper to write down when they want to say to a speech generating device that speaks for the client. Delaney detailed the potential costs of a speech generating device which includes the family purchasing an iPad and the application. Delaney explained,

Programs can run anywhere from \$200 to \$500 just for the app. That's not even talking about getting an iPad. And with those programs if you don't have a designated device that you're trying to get insurance to cover the iPad, they won't do it because an iPad is not considered a designated speech device.

This is why Delaney also explained that the family should be a part of the decision-making process to make sure that the AAC device fits both the client's needs and what the family can afford.

In addition to the financial factor of care, SLPs also should work to support families through their child's AAC intervention. Gale, a SLP who currently works as an AAC solutions consultant, detailed her role in her position as someone who is an extra support to the family of the AAC user to help the family learn to program and use the device. Whether an AAC solutions consultant is an option or not, Nicole mentioned that having an AAC device that is "user friendly" is a big factor in choosing a program. Nicole also mentioned, "[SLPs] see these kids a few times a week and then they go home with [AAC device], so we definitely want parents to also be comfortable with it." When the parents are comfortable with the device, the child will be able to have more exposure which will progress their language skills even further. Additionally, Nicole discussed the importance of reminding families that it is going to be a process for the child and the family to learn to use this device. Nicole explained, "It's kind of like learning a new language. You're going to make mistakes, and I tell parents that all the time too, we don't expect you to be perfect with it." This advice will benefit any family or SLP to hear that it takes time for each member of the team to get used to the device or AAC method.

SLP Beliefs on AAC

All four participants in this study had nothing but positive things to say about the impact that they have seen AAC make with their clients. One belief that three of the SLPs shared was that AAC can decrease the frustration of trying to communicate with verbal speech. Delaney discussed one client that she worked with who had the diagnosis of ASD and childhood apraxia of speech. When they introduced a speech generating device, Delaney said, "that stress of trying to communicate went away." Bridget also described the decrease in frustration and talked about how the device takes the pressure off verbal speech and allows the client to work on their language. Bridget explained that "the research says that using [AAC] doesn't hinder speech and language development, it actually helps them" due to the decrease in stress and frustration. Nicole went as far to say, "I've seen frustration decrease, and I've seen engagement and motivation to communicate increase." So not only is AAC decreasing frustration, it is allowing children to gain motivation to communicate instead of potentially engaging in behaviors.

In addition to AAC decreasing frustration, the SLPs that were interviewed recognize the importance of AAC giving individuals access to communication. One of the SLPs talked about a client that she had that did not have any form of communication until they were forty years old

when they were given a form of AAC. She then went on to discuss the importance of introducing AAC as soon as possible so that they are given communication as soon as possible. Nicole stressed the importance of "giving them any type of basic communication." She talked about how when deciding whether to use AAC with a child, she always uses it first because giving the child access to communication is so important. Nicole also said that "[AAC] has so many benefits receptively too, not just expressively" due to the "visual and auditory model" that clients get with AAC that they might not have understood prior. Additionally, Gale spoke about why she recommends AAC:

I recommend AAC because communication is a basic human right and everybody else should have access to communication that works for them. Not everybody has access to mouth words. Not everybody has access to sign language. Not everybody has access to writing, or low-tech and not everybody has access to high-tech and that is why we should always offer options and offer the options for the most robust vocabulary. We can possibly give that person the most fulfilling, the most genuine, communication access possible.

Gale detailed multiple accounts of how AAC has changed the lives of her clients and how it gave those without a voice an opportunity to express themselves.

Discussion

SLP Education about AAC

As AAC becomes more commonly used with individuals with complex communication needs, it is crucial for SLPs to receive comprehensive education on AAC. In a study reviewing SLP education on AAC, 45% of SLPs reported that they provide services to individuals with complex communication needs (Locke & Mirenda, 1992). Despite the increase in AAC users, it

seems that there continues to be a lack of education about AAC for SLPs in their schooling (Costigan & Light, 2010). In another study discussing the education of AAC for SLPs, less than 25% of the SLPs surveyed felt that their level of education on AAC prepared them for working with AAC with clients (Marvin et al., 2003). The participants interviewed in this study shared similar experiences as most of the participants had a single class in graduate school with basic information about AAC. These participants, along with SLPs from other studies, had limited field experience with AAC during their education (Costigan & Light, 2010). This limited field experience was common in the experiences of this study as well, as many of them said they learned with their own clients. Some of the participants described their approach as 'trial and error' and 'on the job learning'.

Due to the limited amount of education available in the graduate setting, the participants of this study discussed the need for continuing education and on the job learning. This is consistent with the sentiments of SLPs in other research studies regarding the need for continuing education (Sutherland et al. 2005). One study found that 41% of school based SLPs in Nebraska needed some form of continuing education in order to feel confident in their ability to use AAC with clients (Simpson et al., 1999). Nicole discussed how broad the field of speechlanguage pathology is and how it is impossible to teach everything in school. This speaks to the importance of continuing education to ensure that the clients are receiving the best intervention possible.

Family-Centered Care

ASHA supports family-centered care as something that involves a partnership that benefits both the family, the child, and the clinician (ASHA, n.d.-c). Many studies have been conducted to show support of the family-centered approach from the viewpoints of the family and the SLPs. In a study conducted by SLPs to discuss AAC intervention with families, it was found that the parents should be involved in the decision-making process including writing AAC goals (Starble et al., 2005). In addition, it is important to allow the family to feel comfortable and valued throughout the partnership (Moore, 1992).

This study lines up with previous research that emphasizes the importance of the family members being significant communication partners with the child. Parents and other immediate family members are who the child interacts with the most, so it is important to involve the parents and the siblings in the training and process of learning how to use the AAC method (Starble et al., 2005). The parents should receive in-home training, when possible, on how to program, communicate, manage, and clean the AAC device (Starble et al., 2005; Bailey et al., 2006-a). In past research, it was found that AAC device abandonment is commonly associated with lack of training and education for the family (Philips & Zhoa, 1993).

SLP Beliefs on AAC

As Gale discussed in her interview, all people have the right to communication. This lines up with the National Joint Committee for the Communication Needs of Persons with Severe Disabilities (1992) which states that every individual, regardless of their disability, has "a basic right to affect, through communication, the conditions of their own existence." This basic right includes the right to request objects and information, to express feelings and opinions, to refuse an object or activity, and to always have a form of AAC that is in good working condition (National Joint Committee for the Communication Needs of Persons with Severe Disabilities, 1992). It is the role of the SLP to find a mode of communication that is accessible to the individual and allow them to communicate in a way that works for them. When an individual has access to communication, the participants in this study discussed that the individual will have decreased frustration. Delaney mentioned that when they are given the means to communicate effectively, they have less stress about communicating verbally. These findings have been shared with many other researchers in a variety of studies. In one study, a team of special education teachers and SLPs found that when students used AAC devices in the classroom, there was a decrease in their challenging behavior (Bailey et al., 2006-b). This is consistent with Beukelman and Mirenda's (1998) discussion about the connection between communication and challenging behavior, and that challenging behavior is a form of communication. Delaney discussed a client that she worked with that was able to use verbal communication with their AAC device due to having less pressure to communicate with their voice. The SLPs in this study found many benefits to using AAC with their clients that were consistent with the findings of past research.

Limitations of this Study

This study is limited due to the data being collected from a small sample of participants who were female and started practice in the state of Michigan. Three out of four of the participants worked at the same clinic as well. A larger group of participants, potentially in schools and clinics across other geographic locations, would provide more broad perspectives from SLPs working with AAC.

Conclusion

One of the roles that an SLP has is to give their clients access to communication that is appropriate for them, and AAC is a possible mode of communication for many clients with disabilities such as ASD. AAC is constantly evolving and changing to fit the needs of individuals with all different communication abilities. With AAC constantly growing, it is crucial for SLPs and professors that teach SLPs to stay up to date on the latest research and methods for AAC use. As Nicole explained regarding her knowledge about AAC, "I'm still learning, always learning." In addition to SLPs needing to educate themselves on AAC, they also need to be there to support the families of AAC users. Gale discussed the importance of supporting families through training, counseling, and any other support they may need throughout the process of learning how to use the AAC device. As Nicole mentioned, learning how to communicate with AAC is "kind of like learning a new language." Despite the limited education and training in school, all the participants had positive comments and beliefs regarding AAC use with their clients and their families. Bridget discussed that AAC takes the pressure off their verbal speech and allows the individuals around the client to get "insight into their little brains." Regarding future research, the field of speech-language pathology should focus on educating SLP students in undergraduate and graduate school to better prepare them for working in the field. Qualitative and quantitative studies could be conducted to determine the AAC curriculum for SLP graduate programs throughout the country. Other studies could collect data on the AAC programs available and how widely used these programs are. Finally, qualitative research could be conducted to determine family-centered care in relation to AAC. The participants of this study emphasized family involvement, so more research conducted will benefit clients, families, and SLPs. Giving individuals access to communication that works for them is a huge role for SLPs, and AAC is an option that works for many.

References

Andzik, N. R., Schaefer, J. M., Nichols, R. T., & Chung, Y.-C. (2018). National survey describing and quantifying students with communication needs. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 21(1), 40–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17518423.2017.1339133</u>

American Speech-Language-Hearing Association [ASHA] (n.d.-a). *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*.

https://www.asha.org/practice-portal/professional-issues/augmentative-and-alternativecommunication/#collapse 3

- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association [ASHA] (n.d.-b). *Autism Spectrum Disorder*. <u>https://www.asha.org/practice-portal/clinical-topics/autism/</u>
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association [ASHA] (n.d.-c). *Person- and Family Centered Care*.<u>https://www.asha.org/practice-portal/clinical-topics/aphasia/person-and-family-centered-care/</u>
- Bailey, R. L., Parette, H. P., Jr., Stoner, J. B., Angell, M. E., & Carroll, K. (2006-a). Family members' perceptions of augmentative and alternative communication device use.
 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 37(1), 50-60.
 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461(2006/006)</u>
- Bailey, R. L., Stoner, J. B., Parette, H. P., Jr., & Angell, M. E. (2006-b). AAC team perceptions: Augmentative and alternative communication device use. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, 41(2), 139-154.
- Beukelman, D. R., & Light, J. C. (2020). Augmentative & alternative communication:
 Supporting children and adults with complex communication needs (5th ed.). Baltimore:
 Brookes.

- Beukelman, D. R., & Mirenda, P. (1998). Augmentative and alternative communication:
 Management of severe communication disorder in children and adults (2 n- ed.).
 Baltimore: Brookes.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Costigan, F. A., & Light, J. (2010). A review of preservice training in augmentative and alternative communication for speech-language pathologists, special education teachers, and occupational therapists. *Assistive Technology*, *22*(4), 200-212.
- Gevarter, C., O'Reilly, M. F., Rojeski, L., Sammarco, N., Lang, R., Lancioni, G. E., & Sigafoos,
 J. (2013). Comparing communication systems for individuals with developmental
 disabilities: A review of single-case research studies. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 34, 4415–4432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2013.09.017</u>
- Hycner, R. H. (1985). Some guidelines for the phenomenology analysis of interview data. *Human Studies*, 8(2), 279-303.
- Liberator. (n.d.-a). AAC Education Navigation.

https://liberator.net.au/support/education/aac/navigation

Liberator. (n.d.-b). Core and Fringe Vocabulary.

https://liberator.net.au/support/education/language/core-fringe-vocabulary

 Light, J. C. & McNaughton, D. (2012) The Changing Face of Augmentative and Alternative Communication: Past, Present, and Futures Challenges. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 28* (4), 197-204. DOI: <u>10.3109/07434618.2012.737024</u>

Locke, P. A., & Mirenda, P. (1992). Roles and responsibilities of special education teachers

serving on teams delivering AAC services. *AAC: Augmentative and Alternative Communication*, 8(3), 200-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07434619212331276193</u>

- Marvin, L., Montano, J., Fusco, L., & Gould, E. (2003). Speech-language pathologists' perceptions of their training and experience in using augmentative and alternative communication. *Contemporary Issues in Communication Sciences and Disorders*, 30, 76–83.
- Moore, C. (1992). Maximizing family participation in the team process. In L. Kupper (Ed.), The second National Symposium on Effective Communication for Children and Youth With Severe Disabilities: Topics papers, reader's guide & videotape (pp. 43-54). McLean, VA: Interstate Research Associates.
- National Joint Committee for the Communication Needs of Persons With Severe Disabilities. (1992). *Guidelines for meeting the communication needs of persons with severe disabilities*[Guidelines]. Available from www.asha.org/policy or www.asha.org/njc.
- Pathak, V., Jena, B., & Kalra, S. (2013). Qualitative research. *Perspectives in clinical research*,
 4(3), 192. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-3485.115389</u>
- Philips, B., & Zhoa, H. (1993). Prediction of assistive technology abandonment. *Assistive Technology*, *5*, 36-45.
- Ratcliff, A, Koul, R, Lloyd, L.L. (2008). Preparation in Augmentative and Alternative Communication: An Update for Speech-Language Pathology Training. *American Journal* of Speech-Language Pathology, 17 (1), 48-59. <u>https://doi-</u> org.ezproxy.emich.edu/10.1044/1058-0360(2008/005)
- Romski, M. & Sevcik, R. A. (2005) Augmentative Communication and Early Intervention. Infants & Young Children, 18 (3), 174-185

Sanders, E. J., Page, T. A., & Lesher, D. (2021). School-based speech-language pathologists: Confidence in augmentative and alternative communication assessment. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 52*(2), 512-528.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1044/2020 LSHSS-20-00067

- Schram, T. H. (2006). *Conceptualizing and proposing qualitative research*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Seidman, I. (2006). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Simpson, K., Beukelman, D., & Bird, A.(1999). Survey of school speech and language service provision to students with severe communication impairments in Nebraska. *Augmentative* and Alternative Communication, 14, 212–221.
- Starble, A., Hutchins, T., Favro, M. A., Prelock, P., & Bitner, B. (2005). Family-centered intervention and satisfaction with AAC device training. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 27(1), 47-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/15257401050270010501</u>
- Sutherland, D. E., Gillon, G. G., & Yoder, D. E. (2005). AAC use and service provision: A survey of New Zealand speech-language therapists. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*, 21(4), 295-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07434610500103483</u>